CIVIL CAUSE NO.: NO. 2007-KA-1177 MONTRELL JORDAN, APPELLANT VS. STATE OF MISSISSIPPI, APPELLEE APPELLANT'S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF APPEAL

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Bill Waller, Sr.
MSB No.:
Waller & Waller, Attorneys
Post Office Box 4
220 South President Street
Jackson, Mississippi 39205
(601) 354-5252
Attorney for the Appellant

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

CIVIL CAUSE NO.: 2007-KA-1177

MONTRELL JORDAN, APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI, APPELLEE

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Defendant's Constitutional Rights to a Fair Trial were Violated Materially and Continuously from the Qualification of the Jury, Voir Dire Examination, and the Seating of a Panel of Twelve to Try the Case in that the Court, the Prosecution and Defense Counsel Failed to make a Proper Inquiry as to the Opinions, Biases, or Prejudicial Feeling Toward the Defendant Arising out of the Homicide of a Freshman Football Player at Holmes Community College.
- 2. Defendant's Constitutional Rights to a Fair Trial were Violated and the Jury was Forced to Reach a Verdict not Supported by the Evidence in that the Trial Panel was not Qualified as to Their Opinions brought about by Prejudicial Pretrial Publicity and Community Involvement Arising from a Notorious Homicide at a Public Tax-Supported Community College.
- 3. Defendant was denied a fair trial when the court failed to grant a mistrial upon observing four (4) jurors among the twelve accepted for the trial who were emotionally or otherwise unable to fairly and impartially consider the evidence.
- 4. There was no Evidence Identifying the Defendant as the Shooter and it was Error for the Court to Deny the Motion for Directed Verdict and it was Error for the Court to Admit Evidence Regarding In-Court Identification of the Defendant.
- 5. Defendant's Unsigned Statements Violate his Miranda Rights and are Inadmissible Because he was Interrogated on Three Different Occasions by Different Investigators over a Period of Approximately 3 hours after he was Arrested and at a time when he Repeatedly Requested the Assistance of Counsel and Declined to Sign the Miranda Rights Certificates.
- 6. It was Error for the Court to Admit Evidence Found from Searching Defendant's Automobile on Two Grounds: (1) The search was illegal; and (2) The evidence was irrelevant and highly prejudicial.
- 7. The verdict of murder is contrary to the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence and It was Error to Deny Defendant's Motion for New Trial.
- 8. The Indictment Charges the wrong Crime and is Fatally Defective. It was error for the Court not to Require the State to Amend the Indictment to Charge only Manslaughter before the Trial Started or after the State Rested.
- 9. Arguments by the Prosecution including Closing Statements in which the Jury was Instructed that If Convicted the Defendant would only Serve a Short Time in Jail before being Released, Obscuring and Secreting the Mandatory, Statutory Provision

- that he Receive Life in the Penitentiary if Convicted of Murder.
- 10. Errors Regarding Admissibility of Evidence, Witnesses, and Exhibits.
- 11. Error to Grant State's Instructions.
- 12. Verdicts of Either Manslaughter or Not Guilty would have Resulted if the Defendant had received Effective and Competent Assistance of Counsel.
- 13. It was Error for the State to Withhold Pretrial Discovery of Evidence Including Witness Statements Unfavorable to the State.
- 14. Cumulative Errors of the Trial Court Mandate Reversal.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of gunshots allegedly fired by the Defendant herein striking a freshman football player and killing him during the occurrence of a melee at a dance at Holmes Community College. Montrell Jordan was indicted by the Grand Jury in Holmes County on the charge of murder pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(1)(a). (R.6, R.E. 8). All aspects of the homicide reflected the classic elements of manslaughter a constituent crime which was not changed in the indictment.

Prior to the trial and during the course of the trial, there were several errors committed by the trial court which the Defendant contends requires reversal. Those errors include, but are not limited to allowing in-court identification of the Defendant without proper predicate, admission of evidence found from an illegal search, and improper jury instructions. Additionally, the Appellant contends that he received ineffective assistance of counsel, and therefore, respectfully submits that this case should be reversed.

After a trial commencing on February 14, 2007 and ending February 16, 2007, a jury verdict was rendered finding the Defendant guilty of murder and he was sentenced to life in prison. (R. 306, 307; R.E. 171, 172).

Defendant then filed a Motion for New Trial and an Amended Motion for New Trial on February 26, 2007 and June 8, 2007, respectively, which was denied on July 2, 2007 and entered on the docket on July 3, 2007. (R. 310, 356, 460, R.E. 173, 214, 316). It is from the Jury's Verdict and the Court's Order from which the Defendant appeals. (R. 465, R.E. 317).

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

We are living in a time when crime is the focal interest of the average citizen, and so much so, that people have purchased electronic devices to protect their homes and property and are familiar with 911 availability and are generally alert, constantly to protect themselves as a victim of crime. These moves of our society prompt rapt attention to criminal activities particularly those involving schools and colleges.

The sparsely populated county of Holmes has a major educational institution which has operated for over 50 years in the form of Holmes Community College located at Goodman, about ten (10) miles from the Holmes County Courthouse at Lexington.

When the annual event known as the Spring Fling was underway on the campus on the night of April 27, 2005, a freshman football player was fatally wounded which event made all media forms published or broadcasted in Lexington, Jackson, Greenwood and other places all over the State, and was also publicized in the college newspaper sent to alumni. From this unusual and shocking event, the general public became permeated with the horrible nature of this crime and that something should be done to make it safe for our students on the college campus.

The investigation prompted all local resources to become involved, including the police department of the town of Goodman, Holmes Community College, Holmes County Sheriff's Department, and the Mississippi Bureau of Investigation. Top flight investigator services were employed but only very veil circumstantial evidence could be produced to incriminate the Defendant in this case. Recognizing such, the Prosecution asked for a straight murder indictment rather than a manslaughter indictment to give leverage in the prosecution since it was evident that the decedent, a non-resident, freshman student, was not acquainted directly or indirectly with the Defendant and

since there was a crowd uprising and numerous fights between individuals prior to the shooting. The evidence reflected that the entire Holmes Community College football team was the aggressor with the victim being a member of that team.

The trial in February 2007 came on about five months prior to the August primary election in which all officials, excluding the trial judge, connected with the Prosecution stood for re-election. That, plus the notoriety of the event, prompted the Prosecution to resort to unusual and extreme means to bring about a successful prosecution of the homicide, calling it murder, and avoiding charging any constituent crime such as manslaughter.

The all out investigation failed to produce any eyewitnesses to identify the individual or individuals doing the shooting; failed to bring about identification of the Defendant as the shooter; failed to recover the weapon or weapons used in the shooting; failed to produce any motive or malice between the Defendant and the victim; and generally failed to have any direct positive proof that the Defendant committed any crime.

Using typical prosecution strategy an indictment for murder, which did not describe manslaughter, was obtained and the trial proceeded with only one charge of murder and no alternative or constituent charges.

The fourteen assignments of errors reflect a cumulative pyramiding avalanche of inadmissible evidence to contrive a conviction of murder.

The Court is compelled to reverse this conviction for many reasons beginning with one of the more convincing reasons is the lack of a fair and impartial jury. About 75% of the panel was disqualified on their own volition even though the court, nor the attorneys on voir dire, questioned the jury about their opinions gained from pretrial publicity, community concern, and their connection

or association with the Community College whether as a student, a family member, an employee, a sports fan, or other connection or association including the fact that all taxpayers in Holmes County contribute to the support of the school. After the twelve juror panel was chosen it became obvious that four (4) of the twelve were not qualified to serve, including open, emotional displays during the course of the trial and other facts including the selection of a male juror who was a retired police officer and who had a civil law conflict with the Defendant's father. Altogether, the record reveals that the jury was not qualified to serve on this case, they simply pantomimed which the State asked them to do.

Throughout the course of the trial, the State successfully engaged in devious tactics literally staging the evidence to unduly persuade the jury to convict the Defendant of murder. These tactics include (1) failure to adequately voir dire the jury; (2) opening statements highly inflammatory and improper; (3) admission of various witness statements to corroborate the testimony of the State's own witnesses before cross-examination; (4) dramatic courtroom identification by five witnesses of the Defendant when that identification had no connection with the shooter's identification; (5) the use of Defendant's unsigned statements in which he did not waive his Miranda rights and insisted on an attorney; (6) the introduction of evidence illegally acquired without the benefit of a search warrant from the Defendant's vehicle; (7) failure of the court and/or attorneys to properly instruct the jury on manslaughter and/or amend the indictment; (8) introduction of irrelevant items seized in a warrantless and illegal search of the Defendant's vehicle; (9) but for ineffective counsel the Defendant would have been acquitted; and (10) closing statements by the Prosecutor, stating that the Defendant would only serve a short time in jail before being released, obscuring and secreting the mandatory provision of the statute requiring a "life sentence".

Altogether, taking the evidence most favorable to the State, there is no proof beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant committed any crime and the Court should reverse and render.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

This murder conviction was obtained on very vague, circumstantial evidence, a good part of which was inadmissible. The trial was dominated by prosecutorial overreaching and play acting over and above inadmissible evidence.

Oral argument would greatly aid the Court in its analysis of the issues presented in this case. The number and uniqueness of the issues create a need for counsel to give a detailed explanation of the evidence and law related to those issues. These issues range from the inadmissible use of witness statements; improper crime charged in the indictment; pretrial errors; pretrial publicity; prejudicial jury panel; and many others. Accordingly, the Defendant respectfully requests that the Court grant oral argument in this case.

V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Montrell Jordan, a lifetime resident of Holmes County, Mississippi was born on March 16, 1980 and was arrested in connection with a homicide at a time when he was 26 years of age. Jordan and had no prior criminal record, arrests, or conflict with abiding by the law with the exception of one DUI. Jordan had absolutely no motive to commit a crime of murder or manslaughter, and he maintains his innocence. Jordan did not shoot into the air, did not shoot a person, did not act recklessly, and did not commit this crime for which he is charged. Jordan is not a habitual criminal like the majority of the people that are charged with murder and convicted. He was gainfully employed, living with his parents, Mr. and Mrs. Walter Jordan, Sr. of Pickens and had otherwise led an exemplary life.

He attended a social ceremony termed a "dance" at Holmes Community College located at Goodman in Holmes County, about 10 miles from the Holmes County Courthouse, where a large number of participants, both students and non-students, engaged in highly spirited activities when a fight broke out from inside the building to the outside parking lot when someone fired a weapon which accidentally fatally wounded a freshman football player at the Community College, a resident of Louisiana. The College traditionally has an annual three day event call the "Spring Fling" which includes the dance which was conducted in the Student Union building. It was an officially sanctioned event and both student and non-student guests were free to attend.

The Defendant did not shoot into the crowd and murder the victim and stands by the fact that he is not guilty. However, at best, under any reasonable interpretation of the *res gestae*, this unfortunate event cannot support charges for any crime other than "manslaughter." This is especially true when the fact that this was a crowd melee, a violent episode erupting among the

crowd of young men and women.

There is no evidence that the Defendant, a non-student, even knew the name or identity of the victim. Moreover, there is no evidence that they had ever laid eyes on each other. This reflects the almost impossibility of a motive between the Defendant and the victim for him to intentionally commit grave bodily harm or fatal injuries. Since there were no eye witnesses, nor any type of probative evidence identifying the individual or individuals among the crowd that did the shooting, the proper description of the event would be an act of culpable negligence.

The Court will take judicial notice that Holmes County is basically a rural county having a population of about 21,000 individuals and that Holmes Community College is a public Junior College supported partially by taxes collected from Holmes County residents. Likewise, the Court will take judicial notice that scores upon scores of Holmes County residents, their ancestors, descendants, friends, neighbors and collateral relatives have attended and/or supported Holmes Community College so much as to say that it is our local college and we do not want any unlawful events, particularly shootings and homicides on the campus among the students or guests. Holmes Community College was founded in 1911 and has had an average enrollment of 5,000 students. In 2005 it had 1, 403 students on the Goodman Campus, one of 5 separate campuses. The Court should take judicial notice that the school has some connection with most all Holmes County families whether student or alumni, among family members, or supporters, or sports fans, or frequent attender of events on campus as well as financial support through tax payments.

The State's case is woven around emotionally charged evidence, a good part of which should not have been admitted, and none of which met the test in a criminal prosecution of proving the guilt of the Defendant beyond a reasonable doubt.

The alleged weapon, pistol or other firearm, has not been found, nor has the caliber or description of that weapon been identified. There is no confession by the Defendant and there is no direct evidence that he was involved in any of the violent activities.

The ballistics evidence attempted to prove that the bullet causing the fatal injury could have been fired by a weapon of a different caliber.

As stated, the gun that was used on the night of the shooting has never been identified, including the make, model and caliber. Furthermore, the gun in question has not been found, was not in evidence, there was no proof that a gun purportedly bought by Defendant was used to shoot the victim, and the bullet found in the victim's body did not match the type of bullets used by that particular type of gun, nor did the bullet found in the victim's body match the bullets found in the Defendant's vehicle pursuant to the illegal search.

Defendant filed a Motion for New Trial and Amended Motion for New Trial on February 26, 2007 and June 8, 2007, respectively. (R. 310, 356, R.E. 173, 214). The lower court overruled the Motion on July 2, 2007 and it was entered on the docket by the Clerk on July 3, 2007. (R. 460, R.E. 316). Defendant filed his Notice of Appeal on July 5, 2007. (R. 465, R.E. 317).

VI. ARGUMENT

1. Defendant's Constitutional Rights to a Fair Trial were Violated Materially and Continuously from the Qualification of the Jury, Voir Dire Examination, and the Seating of a Panel of Twelve to Try the Case in that the Court, the Prosecution and Defense Counsel Failed to make a Proper Inquiry as to the Opinions, Biases, or Prejudicial Feeling Toward the Defendant Arising out of the Homicide of a Freshman Football Player at Holmes Community College.

The failure to voir dire the jury concerning knowledge of the facts acquired by community discussion and pretrial publicity made the Defendant's trial fundamentally unfair in violation of his constitutional rights. Had the court, the prosecution, or defense counsel made inquiries about the impressions and opinions obtained from community outrage and contents of any news reports that potential jurors had read, it would have materially assisted in obtaining a jury less likely to be tainted or influenced by public opinion and by pretrial publicity and sentiment to protect "students" than the jury that was selected without those questions. The victim was a teenage freshman college student and football player from Louisiana. The Defendant was a 24 year-old, non-student, resident of Holmes County. This Court, or any common sense analysis, would force the conclusion that this event in a sparsely populated rural county was sensational, horrible and one of a kind.

Pervasive, adverse pretrial publicity has the potential to taint the perspective of the community from which a jury is selected. When the proceedings surrounding the investigation and prosecution of a particular crime are highly publicized, courts must inquire as to whether the defendant has been denied an impartial jury that will render a verdict based upon the evidence presented at trial rather than on information received from an outside source.

U.S. v. Parker, 877 F.2d 327 (5th Cir. 1989)(citing *Irvin v. Dowd*, 366 U.S. 717, 723, 81 S.Ct. 1639, 1642, 6 L.Ed.2d 751 (1961)).

A defendant is not required to show that community prejudice permeated the jury box. A defendant can show that "prejudicial, inflammatory publicity about his case so saturated the

community from which his jury was drawn as to render it virtually impossible to obtain an impartial jury... proof of such poisonous publicity raises a presumption that appellant's jury was prejudiced, relieving him of the obligation to establish actual prejudice by a juror in his case." *U.S. v. Parker*, 877 F.2d 327 (5th Cir. 1989)(internal citations omitted).

The jury panel was given an opportunity to respond; a large number voluntarily mentioned having (1) talked about it, (2) read about it, and (3) saw news stories on television. These comments alerted the court and counsel that this case involved broad public concern, but they failed to follow up with proper questioning.

The high volume of saturating publicity from television, radio, newspaper, alumni newspaper, and word of mouth created hysteria in a community over the fact that a teenage freshman college student had been killed on the campus in the course of a social event. Further, compounding the hysteria is the fact that campus shootings at schools had been going on across the country which provoked outrage in the public. These facts were so unique and shocking as to make everyone in Holmes County aware that a homicide on a college campus was a major event that shocked and rocked the whole community. However, the record is devoid of any investigation or discussion regarding the fairness or lack of prejudice of the jury panel based upon bias, ill-will or prejudicial feeling toward a non-student accused of shooting a student at a social event. It is obvious that the public was highly charged over this event and comments made by different jurors during voir dire confirmed prejudicial pre-trial publicity even though the trial court and counsel for the Defendant failed to ask direct questions regarding a juror's direct or indirect affiliation with the college. This was essential because the college is partially supported by Holmes County taxpayers and since a violent crime occurred at a college sponsored event it would serve to prejudice jurors against the

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