COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MONTRELL JORDAN

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-1177

FILED

JAN 24 2008

**OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

**BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
POST OFFICE BOX 220
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

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

We respectfully submit Jordan's eighth proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION NINE:

**JORDAN'S CHALLENGES TO THE STATE'S OPENING STATEMENT
AND CLOSING ARGUMENTS ARE PROCEDURALLY BARRED
AND SUBSTANTIVELY WITHOUT MERIT**

Jordan argues additionally that certain comments made by the prosecutors during opening statement and closing arguments require reversal of the judgment rendered against him. He challenges several comments made during the state's final closing argument, contending that they violated his right to a fair trial.

The fatal flaw in this argument is that it is procedurally barred. A review of the state's opening statement and initial and final closing arguments reveals that the defense interposed only one objection-- and a general one, at that.¹¹ (T.679) His failure to object bars consideration of this issue on appeal. *Rubenstein v. State*, 941 So.2d 735, 779 (Miss.2006); *Moore v. State*, 938 So.2d 1254, 1265 (Miss.2006), citing *Thorson v. State*, 895 So.2d 85, 112 (Miss.2004); *Rushing v. State*, 711 So.2d 450, 455 (Miss.1998).

While no further discussion should be required, the state briefly addresses the merits of the defendant's challenges. First, the defense faults the prosecutor for making this remark during opening statement: "The evidence is going to show you, ladies and gentlemen, that this defendant, as stupid as it was, chose to discharge that weapon. ... [I]f you do an act like that, it's murder in the state of Mississippi." (T.211-12) He also challenges the comment, "You can find him guilty of murder ... We've proven that ...

¹¹That objection was overruled, and the defendant does not challenge that particular comment ruling on appeal.

Montrell, through several eyewitnesses, shot DeeDee. Shot into a crowd. That's dangerous in itself. Irresponsible." (T.638) Contrary to Jordan's assertion, these remarks embody a correct statement of law. Shooting indiscriminately into a crowd of people is a "classic example" of depraved heart murder, as defined by MISS.CODE ANN. § 97-3-19(1)(b)(1972) (as amended),¹² and Instruction S-2. (C.P.296) *Left v. State*, 902 So.2d 630 (Miss.App.2005). This argument was legally and factually appropriate. Had any objection been interposed, the court would have acted correctly in overruling it.

Furthermore, the state submits the prosecutor did overstep his boundaries in arguing to the jury that the evidence showed Jordan was guilty, and that Jordan had not lied about his involvement in the crime as well as about other things. We incorporate by reference our Statement of Substantive Facts in submitting that the evidence showed exactly that. Moreover, "[t]he purpose of a closing argument is to fairly sum up the evidence," and the prosecutor is not only permitted but required to "point out those facts upon which the prosecution contends a verdict of guilty would be proper." *Strohm v. State*, 845 So.2d 691, 700 (Miss.App.2003), quoting *Rogers v. State*, 796 So.2d 1022, 1027 (Miss.2001). "In general, parties may comment upon any facts introduced into evidence, **and may draw whatever deductions and inferences that seem proper from the facts.**" (emphasis added) *Ross v. State*, 954 So.2d 968, 1002 (Miss.2007). There

¹²That subsection defines depraved heart murder as "[t]he killing of a human being without the authority of law by any means or in any manner... [w]hen done in the commission of an act eminently dangerous to others and evincing a depraved heart, regardless of human life, although without any premeditated design to effect the death of any particular individual..."

was no impropriety in this argument.

Finally, Jordan challenges the prosecutor's comment during final closing, "He [Jordan] ain't going to die as a result of this. He's going to get sentenced to some time in the penitentiary, where people who kill people need to be." (T.685) The state counters that this was a fair response to defense counsel's argument on closing, "This man's life is on the line." (T.675-76) The state was entitled to rebut this assertion with the legally and factually correct argument set out above. *Manning v. State*, 835 So.2d 94, 101-02 (Miss.2002).

The state reiterates that Jordan's ninth proposition is procedurally barred. Alternatively, we submit it lacks substantive merit as well.

PROPOSITION TEN:

JORDAN'S TENTH PROPOSITION IS WITHOUT MERIT

Under his tenth proposition, Jordan presents a plethora of alleged errors with respect to the trial court's admission of evidence. The state counters first that the court did not err in allowing the state to introduce two photographs of the decedent during the testimony of Dr. Hayne. (T.227-31) "Some 'probative value' is the only requirement needed to buttress a trial judge's decision to allow photographs into evidence." *Snow v. State*, 800 So.2d 472, 491 (Miss.2001). That decision lies within the sound discretion of the trial court. *Brawner v. State*, 872 So.2d 1, 14 (Miss.2004). It is "very difficult" to show an abuse of this discretion. *Id.* In fact, the "discretion of the trial judge runs toward almost unlimited admissibility regardless of the gruesomeness, repetitiveness, and the extenuation of probative value." *Simmons v. State*, 805 So.2d 452, 485 (Miss.2001).

Furthermore, in a homicide case, photographs of decedents may be admitted even

where there is no dispute as to cause of death, the place and time of death, the identity of the decedent, and at whose hands he died. *Spann v. State*, 771 So.2d 883 (Miss.2000). The court did not err in admitting these photographs.

After the prosecutor showed a photograph to Shaghana Simpson, he asked, "Does that fairly and accurately represent the vehicle you observed on the night of the shooting?" She answered, "Yes, sir." The state then offered the photograph into evidence, and defense counsel stated that he had no objection. (T.244) Accordingly, Jordan's challenge to the admission of this photograph is procedurally barred. *Smith v. State*, 729 So.2d 1191, 1205-06 (Miss.1998). "A trial judge will not be found in error on a matter not presented to him for decision." *Jones v. State*, 606 So.2d 1051, 1058 (Miss.1992), citing *Crenshaw v. State*, 520 So.2d 131, 134 (Miss.1988)).

Likewise, references to Ms. Simpson's prior statements were admitted without objection. (T.238-57, 271) The defendant's belated challenge to the admissibility of this evidence is procedurally barred.

Jordan goes on to argue that the trial court erred in allowing Kenny Wilson to give improper hearsay and opinion testimony. The defendant's sole objection on this ground was sustained, leaving him no basis for complaint on appeal. (T.295-96) *Walls v. State*, 928 So.2d 922, 927 (Miss.App.2006). All other challenges to Wilson's testimony are procedurally barred. The same rationale applies to the testimony of Terry Wade, during which the defendant's single objection was sustained. (T.461) Furthermore, during the testimony of Joey Netherland, the defendant interposed one objection, which was sustained. (T.562)

Also barred is Jordan's assertion that the trial court erred in allowing certain

testimony by Officer Newton. (T.307-09) David Whitehead's testimony was taken without objection, as was the testimony of Detective Oliver.¹³ (T.344-58. 407-23) These points, too, are unpreserved for review.

Furthermore, Jordan never asserted at trial that the identification procedures were tainted. See *Byrd v. State*, 834 So.2d 730, 733 (Miss.App.2003). Inasmuch as a collection of photographs is not a "statement," his objection on the ground of hearsay to the admission of the actual photographic array was properly overruled. (T.412) M.R.E.801(a).

When the prosecutor sought to admit the ATF document during the testimony of Detective Oliver, he outlined for the court the "indicia of trustworthiness," stating that "everything matches the document from the pawnshop man that testified." The defense objected on the ground that it was not properly authenticated. The state countered that the document had "indicia of trustworthiness" because "everything on here matches everything on the document." (T.418-19) The state submits the court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the document, implicitly finding that the state satisfied M.R.E. 901.¹⁴ For the same reasons, the court properly overruled the defendant's objection to the admission of

¹³Furthermore, Jordan may not be heard to challenge testimony which the defense brought out on cross-examination. (T.432-38) *Simpson v. State*, 366 So.2d 1085 (Miss.1979).

¹⁴That rule provides that generally that a document is authenticated by "evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims."

the document from the pawnshop. (T.324-31)

Finally, as the prosecutor asserted at trial, the defendant's statements to Detective Hankins were not hearsay. (T.371) M.R.E.801(d)(2).

For these reasons, Jordan's tenth proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION ELEVEN:

**JORDAN HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE TRIAL COURT
ERRED IN GRANTING INSTRUCTIONS 3, 4 AND 5**

Jordan next contends the trial court committed reversible error in granting Instructions 3, 4, and 5, submitted as S-2, S-3, and S-6. (C.P.296-99) At the outset, the state submits this proposition is completely unsupported by authority. It should be rejected on that basis alone. *Duncan*, 939 So.2d at 779. Accord, *Hewlett v. State*, 607 So.2d 1097, 1107 (Miss.1992).

Furthermore, this proposition is procedurally barred. Defense counsel stated that he had no objection to any of these instructions. (T.622-23) "The failure to offer a contemporaneous objection to an instruction waives the issue on appeal."

While disputing the need for doing so, the state submits alternatively that Jordan's belatedly-interposed objections have no substantive merit. Jordan cites no authority for the proposition that Instruction 3, which defined the offense charged-- depraved heart murder-- was required to contain a definition of the lesser offense of manslaughter. The latter offense was defined by Instruction 5, which the jurors were to consider *if* they found the state had failed to prove any essential element of the crime of murder.

Finally, the court was not required to instruct the jury on the element of malice. The defendant was being prosecuted for depraved heart murder, not malice murder.

For these reasons, Jordan's eleventh proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION TWELVE:

**JORDAN HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT HIS TRIAL
COUNSEL WAS CONSTITUTIONALLY INEFFECTIVE**

Jordan argues additionally that he was denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel at trial. He faces formidable hurdles, summarized follows:

The Mississippi Supreme Court has adopted the two-pronged test set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) in determining whether a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel should prevail. . . . *Rankin v. State*, 636 So.2d 652, 656 (Miss.1994) enunciates the application of *Strickland*:

The *Strickland* test requires a showing that counsel's performance was sufficiently deficient to constitute prejudice to the defense. . . . **The defendant has the burden of proof on both prongs. A strong but rebuttable presumption, that counsel's performance falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance, exists. . . . The defendant must show that but for his attorney's errors, there is a reasonable probability that he would have received a different result in the trial court. . . .**

Viewed from the totality of the circumstances, this Court must determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial. . . . Scrutiny of counsel's performance by this Court must be deferential. . . . If the defendant raises questions of fact regarding either deficiency of counsel's conduct or prejudice to the defense, he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing. . . . Where this Court determines defendant's counsel was constitutionally ineffective, the appropriate remedy is to reverse and remand for a new trial.

In short, a convicted defendant's claim that counsel's assistance was so defective as to require reversal has two components to comply with *Strickland*.

First, he must show that counsel's performance was deficient, that he made errors so serious that he was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that counsel's errors deprived him of a fair trial with reliable results.

(emphasis added) *Colenburg v. State*, 735 So.2d 1099, 1102-03 (Miss.App.1999).

Because this point is raised on direct appeal, the defendant encounters an additional obstacle: the pertinent question

is not whether trial counsel was or was not ineffective but whether the trial judge, as a matter of law, had a duty to declare a mistrial or to order a new trial, sua sponte on the basis of trial counsel's performance. "Inadequacy of counsel" refers to representation that is so lacking in competence that the trial judge has the duty to correct it so as to prevent a mockery of justice. *Parham v. State*, 229 So.2d 582, 583 (Miss.1969). To reason otherwise would be to cast the appellate court in the role of a finder of fact; it does not sit to resolve factual inquiries. *Malone v. State*, 486 So.2d 367, 369 n. 2 (Miss.1986). *Read [v. State]*, 430 So.2d 832 (Miss.1983)] clearly articulates that the method that the issue of a trial counsel's effectiveness can be susceptible to review by an appellate court requires that the counsel's effectiveness, or lack thereof, be discernable from the four corners of the trial record. This is to say that if this Court can determine from the record that counsel was ineffective, then it should have been apparent to the presiding judge, who had the duty, under *Parham*, to declare a mistrial or order a new trial sua sponte.

(emphasis added) *Colenburg*, 735 So.2d at 1102.

Accord, *Clayton v. State*, 946 So.2d 796 (Miss.796, 803 (Miss.App.2006); *Madison v. State*, 923 So.2d 252 (Miss.App.2006); *Jenkins v. State*, 912 So.2d 165, 173 (Miss.App.2005); *Walker v. State*, 823 So.2d 557, 563 (Miss.App.2002); *Estes v. State*, 782 So.2d 1244, 1248-49 (Miss.App.2000).

Jordan has not shown that his lawyer's performance was so deplorable as to require the court to declare a mistrial on its own motion. While he alleges numerous unprofessional lapses, he has not sustained his burden of establishing prejudice.¹⁵ He clearly has failed to show that his trial counsel's overall performance mandated the declaration of a mistrial *sua sponte*. Because he has not shouldered the particular burden that he faces on direct appeal, his twelfth proposition should be denied without prejudice to the raising of this issue in a motion for post-conviction collateral relief.¹⁶

¹⁵Indeed, he cannot do so within the four corners of this record. Moreover, he has failed to rebut the presumption that counsel's decisions were strategic.

¹⁶For the record, the state points out that the defense filed numerous pretrial motions, challenged potential jurors, conducted substantial and incisive cross-examinations of the state's witnesses, and made compelling arguments in support of its positions. (See T.707) By no stretch of the imagination was this a performance which should have motivated the court to declare a mistrial on its own motion.

PROPOSITION THIRTEEN:

**JORDAN'S THIRTEENTH PROPOSITION IS NOT
PROPERLY BEFORE THIS COURT**

Jordan contends additionally that the state failed to disclose evidence favorable to the defense, and specifically that it "failed to provide the Defendant with all of the statements made by Shagunda Simpson and Randy Scott." (Brief for Appellant 67) The state counters that Jordan has failed to sustain his burden of citing to the record to show where he brought this issue to the trial court's attention and obtained a ruling. See *Conley v. State*, 790 So.2d 773, 784 (Miss.2001), citing MRAP 28(A)(1)(6). Having been unable to locate the raising and/or disposition of this issue in the record, the state submits it is not properly before this Court.

PROPOSITION FOURTEEN:

**JORDAN'S INVOCATION OF THE CUMULATIVE ERROR
DOCTRINE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED
AND SUBSTANTIVELY MERITLESS**

Jordan finally contends that the cumulative errors of the trial court mandates reversal of the judgment rendered against him. He did not present this argument at any time in the trial court and may not raise it for the first time on appeal. *Maldonado v. State*, 796 So.2d 247, 260-61 (Miss.2001); *Gibson v. State*, 731 So.2d 1087, 1098 (Miss.1998). His seventh proposition is procedurally barred.

In the alternative, the state incorporates its arguments under Propositions One through Thirteen in asserting that the lack of merit in Jordan's other arguments demonstrates the futility of his final proposition. *Gibson*, 731 So.2d at 1098; *Doss v. State*, 709 So.2d 369, 400 (Miss.1997); *Chase v. State*, 645 So.2d 829, 861 (Miss.1994). See

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